
Questions and Answers 
 

COMPANIES IN BANKRUPTCY 
Please confirm whether companies currently under Chapter 11 Bankruptcy Protection are 
prohibited from bidding.  It is our understanding that companies currently under Chapter 11 
Bankruptcy Protection may be prohibited from entering into new lease agreements.  As such, 
should any such companies submit bids in response to this RFB, confirmation of their eligibility 
will be confirmed through legal review prior to selection of the successful bidder(s) 
 
SECURITY DEPOSITS/BONDS 
Are any bonds or deposits required with the submission of this bid? Yes, a $10,000 security 
deposit or bond is required 
 
Will the Airport allow this security deposit to be in the form of a bond?  It is not reasonable for 
the Airport to hold thousands of dollars cash for multiple years to meet this requirement. Yes, 
County will accept a bond in lieu of the security deposit. 
 
MONTHLY REVENUES/TRANSACTIONS DATA 
Please provide a breakdown of the monthly rental car revenue (by concessionaire) for each of 
the past 5 years.  It is important that this information is provided monthly due to seasonal 
changes and recent economic activity. 

 
Please provide a breakdown of the monthly rental car transactions (by concessionaire) for each 
of the past 5 years. See Historic Revenue on the website 

 
TNCS 
Question: Does the Airport have contracts with any Transportation Network Companies (TNC)?  
If so, what is the charge for pick up?  What is the charge for drop off? County has license 
agreements with Lyft and Uber.  There is no charge per pick-up/drop-off, but the companies 
each pay $600 per month to be allowed access to the Airport. 

 
COMMERCIAL SERVICE HISTORY 
when was the last time the Airport had commercial service? 
SkyWest, April 2015 
CalJet by Elite Airways January 2018 
California Pacific Airlines December 2018 

 
OFF-AIRPORT CAR RENTAL COMPANIES 
Does the Airport have any formal written agreements with any off-airport operators?  If so, what 
are the terms of that agreement (i.e. what is the arrangement for pick-up and drop-off of 
customers; what are the fees that operators pay to the airport)?  We have off-airport license 
agreements with Go Rentals and Enterprise.  These companies pay a $500 per year license fee 
in addition to 10% of Gross Revenues based on the same definition as on-airport companies. 
 
Please provide monthly rental car revenue for all offsite rental car companies for the last 5 
years. See Historic Revenue on the website 

 
 



CAR RENTAL COMPANIES IN FBOS 
Question: are rental car companies that are located inside of an FBO considered an ‘offsite 
rental car company’?  We do not permit car rental companies to operate from FBOs. Although 
Off-Airport Car Rental Companies may deliver to FBOs, they are not permitted to store cars on-
airport. 
 
PEER-TO-PEER CAR SHARING 
In recent years, there have been several companies that have been interested in providing car 
sharing and/or peer-to-peer (P2P) services on-airport, whether they are actual car sharing/P2P 
companies or a branded service that rental car companies offer.    

 
If the County intends to allow car sharing/P2P on airport property (whether offering limited 
parking spaces on-airport, curbside pick-up, etc.), will the County require an off-airport car rental 
agreement including, but not limited to the off-airport revenue percentage fee and monthly 
transaction reporting requirement? See below 

 
Will the County please advise if it is in negotiations with any car sharing/P2P companies at this 
time? County would require a license agreement for any such business, but we are not in 
negotiations with any car sharing/P2P companies at this time and are not planning to have such 
businesses operate at CRQ. 
 
RFB AS ATTACHMENT TO LEASE 
Will the County please confirm that all the terms and conditions specified in the RFP and any/all 
issued addenda will be incorporated and made a part of the Concession Agreement, and add 
language to the RFP and to the Concession Agreement as follows? “The Request for 
Proposals, including all issued addenda and questions and answers, are hereby incorporated 
into and made a part of the Concession Agreement.” County does not intend to incorporate the 
RFB and any/all issued addenda into the lease agreement by reference.  To the extent there is 
an item or items specified in the RFB documents that Concessionaire feels is not adequately 
reflected in the lease agreement, County can clarify the language in that document directly. 

 
ELECTRONIC SUBMISSION OF BIDS 
Submission of Proposals.  We have seen numerous airports permit online or email submissions 
over the last couple of years. Due to COVID and our corporate/administrative offices currently 
being closed, gathering original signatures and access to physical supplies is a challenge.   

 
Will the County please eliminate the requirement for a hard copy and permit proposers to simply 
email their proposal submissions? Yes, bids may be submitted electronically to: 
Ian.Hodgson@sdcounty.ca.gov AND anne.baldwin@sdcounty.ca.gov 

 
PROCESSSING FEE FOR LEASE 
Please remove the $3000 payment requirement. The agreement has not been redrafted or 
negotiated. In these COVID-era times, every dollar counts, and this is an unnecessary financial 
obligation. This fee is required by the Schedule of Rates and Charges and Use Control Policy 
for County of San Diego Airports and cannot be waived by staff.  This fee covers cost of drafting 
and review of the agreement and related Board materials, including legal review 
 
LIGHTING REQUIREMENTS 
What does it mean that Concessionaire “shall provide lighting”?  Are there specific requirements 
which the Airport has identified? There are no requirements to add lighting; however, to the 



extent concessionaires find that the existing lighting does not meet their needs for security or 
other reasons, the cost of additional lighting would be at their expense 

 
NON-NEGOTIABLE LEASE PROVISIONS 
We respectfully request mutual indemnification whereby County indemnifies Lessee against 
County’s negligence, actions, inactions, omissions and misconduct, and that Section 13.3.4 be 
stricken, as Lessee should not have to indemnify County against their own acts of negligence, 
passive or otherwise. 

 
Please delete certain indemnification sections of the Lease. Operator should not have to 
indemnify County from their own negligence. This our standard indemnification lease language  
 
Section 14.4 – Please insert language in the 8th line as follows: “ . . . suspected presence of 
Hazardous Materials anywhere in the Premises caused by Lessee, ….” 

 
Please add language at the end of the first sentence of lease Sec. 24.2 which states, “ . . .  
except to the extent there are damages or injuries resulting from County’s entry caused by the 
negligence, actions or misconduct of County, its agents, representatives or employees.”  
These are areas of the lease that are non-negotiable.  County has strong provisions which favor 
County in these areas and an inability to accept such language by a lessee will make it 
impossible for County to sign. 

  
   

COPIES OF INSURANCE POLICIES 
Please strike the language that requires copies of policies.  Our policies are blanket and contain 
information for locations other than what would apply to this one airport location, and that 
information on actual policies is confidential and proprietary.  We will provide a certificate of 
insurance as evidence. 
 
Prior to commencement of this Lease, but in no event later than effective date of the Lease, 
Lessee shall furnish the County with a copy of the policy declaration and endorsement pages 
along with the certificates of insurance and amendatory endorsements effecting coverage 
required by this clause. Policy declaration and endorsement pages shall be included with 
renewal certificates and amendatory endorsements submissions and shall be furnished to 
County within thirty days of the expiration of the term of any required policy. Lessee shall permit 
County at all reasonable times to inspect any required policies of insurance  
Should a copy of the policy be needed in response to a claim, the information would be obtained 
through County Counsel to protect confidential and proprietary information to the extent 
permitted by law. 
 
 
CAR WASHING AND CFCS 
As it relates to the car wash area, what if any, improvements have been made to this 
area over the last 5 years?  Also related to the Car Wash area, what improvements, if 
any, does the Airport expect to make in the coming 5 years?   
 
Would a successful bidder have the ability to make substantial improvements to the car 
wash area?  If selected, we may wish to install pressure washers, commercial vacuums, 
and items of this sort.  (the current COVID environment has forced all rental car 
companies to rethink the way in which they clean/sanitize their cars.  In many cases, a 



simple hose and vacuum is not sufficient to satisfy today's customer's 
needs/desires/expectations. In summary, there is currently no car washing permitted on 
the Airport due to stormwater considerations and a lack of a defined car wash area.  
County may consider working with the RAC Industry to determine if a car wash area is 
feasible in the future, but there are no immediate plans to do so. 
 
Please confirm there is no intent to establish a CFC at this airport. 
 
What does the Airport intend to do with CFC funds if CFCs are instituted at Airport? Does the 
Airport have a timeline for the implementation of CFCs? 
 
As it relates to the car wash area, what if any, improvements have been made to this area over 
the last 5 years?  Also related to the Car Wash area, what improvements, if any, does the 
Airport expect to make in the coming 5 years?  
 
Would a successful bidder have the ability to make substantial improvements to the car wash 
area?  If selected, one company may wish to install pressure washers, commercial vacuums, 
and items of this sort.  (the current COVID environment has forced all rental car companies to 
rethink the way in which they clean/sanitize their cars and in many cases, a simple hose and 
vacuum is not sufficient to satisfy today's customer's needs/desires/expectations.) 
 
The creation of a new CFC requires many items be addressed during the process including 
amounts/# days/remittance obligations/permitted uses/etc.  If Airport would like to include 
language related to future CFC, Airport should include language which recognizes that many 
items would need modification within our agreement.  We suggest including “in coordination with 
rental car companies, the Airport may consider the implementation of a Customer Facility 
Charge (CFC) in the future at the Airport, and in the event that a CFC is intended to be imposed 
at the Airport, the parties will execute an amendment to modify the agreement and address the 
many changes which will be necessary There are currently no CFCs collected by County, and 
none would be collected unless and until shared RAC facilities were constructed by County at 
the Airport and all requirements for coordination between the parties would be observed 
 
Confirm Concession Recovery Fee Is Referring To CFCs 
It is common practice for Airports to include language that specifically acknowledges that the 
Concessionaire is allowed to ‘pass through’ the concession recovery fee to customers. 
 

Will the airport please include the following passage as a new Section 4.6 in the Concession 
Agreement: County cannot add this clause 
 

 “Airport Authority does not require, but will not prohibit, a separate statement of and 
charge for the Privilege Fee on customer invoices or rental agreements (“Recovery Fee”), 
provided that such Recovery Fee meets all of the following conditions: (a) such Recovery Fee 
must be titled “Concession Recovery Fee,” “Concession Recoupment Fee” or such other name 
first approved by the Executive Director in writing; (b) the Recovery Fee must be shown on the 
customer rental car agreement and invoiced with other Concessionaire charges (i.e. “above the 
line”); (c) the Recovery Fee as stated on the invoice and charged to the customer shall be no 
more than 11.11% of Gross Revenues and shall be specifically included in the Definition of 
Gross Revenues for purposes of remittance to Airport Authority; (d) Concessionaire shall neither 
identify, treat, or refer to the Recovery Fee as a tax, nor imply that Airport Authority is requiring 
the pass through of such fee.” 



 
BRANDING 
Please verify that dual branding is permitted.  
 
Add or Remove a Brand? 
 
We have found that competition drives increased customer service.  Please confirm that each 
company is limited to one “family” bid – and that the it is the intent of the airport to have two 
companies servicing the facility.   
 
Will the County please confirm that a single Proposer can submit multiple proposals in response 
to this Concession opportunity, so long as the proposals do not contain duplicate brand(s)? 
 
Please confirm that a successful bidder can add additional brands to their concession 
agreement and operations at the Airport during the Term.  (it should not be required that the 
parent company changes/adds/subtracts brands in order to add an additional brand operating at 
Palomar.  Please clarify that any successful concessionaire can add/subtract brands during the 
term, with Director approval  
Concessionaires will be permitted to operate at the Airport using up to three (3) brand names 
only if the brand/trade names are 100% owned or licensed to the Concessionaire.  The 
undersigned intends to operate at the Airport using the following brand/trade names that are 
100% owned or licensed to undersigned: 
 
 
MAG 
For the past 7 months, the rental car industry has simply been trying to survive financially in light 
of the severe business downturn caused by COVID-19.  Respectfully, now is not an appropriate 
time to conduct an RFP that requires a MAG on day one.  As such, we request that the RFP not 
include ANY MAG for the first two years of the agreement. 

 
1. If the County is unwilling to remove the requirement for a MAG, then it must, in the very 

least, suspend any MAG obligation until scheduled commercial service returns to the Airport.  
 

QUESTION:  Will the County please update the RFP as follows 
a) Include the provision that payment of Concessionaire’s MAG will not trigger until 

scheduled commercial service returns to the Airport 
b) Thereafter, abatement of the MAG would trigger in any month that deplanements are 

less than 85% of deplanements compared to the same month in the first year of 
commercial service. As you may be aware, a 15% reduction is the industry standard 
for triggering MAG abatement. We cannot use 30% as the threshold, as a 30% 
decline in business is already past the point of severe impact to the concessionaires. 

c) Include a provision that “the first year following commencement of this agreement in 
which there is commercial service” will be the base year for comparing deplanements 
for the duration of the term. These are pre-COVID levels and we don’t expect things 
to normalize for at least 2 more years. Regardless, 2020 can never be used as a 
comparison year, and it remains to be seen what transpires in 2021 and 2022. 

d) Include a provision that the dollar amount of any abatement of the MAG for any 
Agreement year shall be equal to the product arrived at by multiplying the MAG for 
such Agreement year by a fraction, the numerator of which is the number of months 



that such condition continues to exist during any Agreement year and the 
denominator of which is 12. By way of example, if the MAG for a particular 
Agreement year was One Hundred Twenty Thousand and no/100 Dollars 
($120,000.00) and such condition continues to exist for two (2) months (i.e., 2/12) 
during that Agreement year, then the amount of the abatement would be Twenty 
Thousand and no/100 Dollars ($20,000.00) and the MAG for that Agreement year 
would be reduced to One Hundred Thousand and no/100 Dollars ($100,000.00) or 
10/12’s. 

e) Include MAG Abatement Relief with Annual Reconciliation language whereby the 
reconciliation will be based on the concession fee (e.g., 10%) payment total for all 
twelve months of the Agreement year as compared to the total Agreement year’s 
reduced MAG.  So for annual reconciliation purposes (using a two-month MAG 
waiver period as an example), concession fee (e.g., 10%) payment totals for the full 
twelve-month period would be used to offset the 10/12ths’ MAG amount over this 
same twelve-month (Agreement year) period.   

 
Page 26, 3rd para. – Refers to percentage “rent”.  MAGs and concession/percentage fees 
should not be referred to as “rent”.  These items are not rent but rather fees paid for the 
privilege of operating a concession at the airport.  Labeling these fees as rent could have 
adverse tax consequences.  Any and all other references to MAG or % fee as “rent” (in RFP or 
the Concession Agreement) should be changed. 
 
Given that there is no commercial service at the Airport and given the significant decline in 
rental car business nationwide during the economic environment and health emergency, please 
eliminate entirely the MAG in this agreement. 
 
County believes the minimum MAG in the RFB is appropriate given the current economic 
circumstances. 
 
DEFINITION OF GROSS REVENUES 
Please remove fuel as a GR inclusion. Fuel should be excluded from GR as there is no profit or 
additional revenue resulting from the cost we recover from the customer for furnishing or 
replacing fuel.  “Pre-paid” fuel is the cost of furnishing fuel and is at the commencement of the 
contract and is not revenue as the amount we charge for fuel is at or below the cost of the 
nearest gas station.  The cost to replace fuel is at the conclusion of the contract and should also 
be excluded as this does not result in any profit or additional revenue, but is our administrative 
cost to be “made whole” when a customer returns the vehicle with a lesser amount of fuel than 
when they rented it.  

 
Will the County please specifically state Carbon Offsets as an exclusion from GR?  This fee is 
optional for our customers and is to allow them to make their rental carbon neutral.  One 
hundred percent (100%) of all fees collected are passed through to a 3rd party to fund 
environmental initiatives.  

 
Will the County please expand C.4 as follows to account for all out-of-pockets costs to us 
caused by the customer: “Any amounts received as payment and administration of traffic tickets, 
red light tickets, parking tickets, other governmental fines and fees, tolls, towing and impounded 
vehicles.” 
 
Updated language is added by addendum to the Lease, as provided on the website.  
 



 
 
 
 
 
ANNUAL TRUE-UP OF RENT 
Just as we would owe for an underpayment, we should be credited for any overpayment. Please 
incorporate a true-up whereby Lessee is credited accordingly. County does credit lessees for 
any overpayment of rent at year end following reconciliation.  That said, if lessee pays the lower 
of MAG/12 or 10% of gross sales each month, there should never be an overpayment by lessee 
at year end. 

 
MOST FAVORED NATIONS / NEGOTIATIONS OUTSIDE OF RFB PROCESS 
Page 5-6, Introduction, 3rd para – (a) We respectfully object to negotiations taking place as it 
relates to the financial terms – i.e. MAGs and rents. The MAGs a company submits should be 
final and the rents should remain as stated specified in the RFB and proposed agreement. No 
one company should have an advantage over another if financial terms are negotiated. This 
undermines the RFB process; AND (b) Please confirm that “outside of the RFB process” means 
after proposals are awarded but that no one company will have more favorable terms in their 
Lease than another company. A “Most Favored Nations” provision should be stated in the 
Lease. The right of County to negotiate outside of the RFB process does not mean one 
company would get more favorable terms than another 
 
Will the County please include a Most Favored Nations provision in the agreement? We suggest 
the following language:  [“In the event that any contract granted by the County to any other 
Rental Car Company shall contain any terms and conditions more favorable to such company 
than the terms and conditions herein described (other than the number of allocated parking 
spaces and the location of the concession area, etc.), then this Agreement shall be amended to 
include such more favorable terms and any offsetting burdens that may be imposed on any 
such other company.  The intent of this provision is to ensure that the County shall give due 
diligence to ensure all rental car companies will be able to compete on terms as equal as 
possible with all other rental car companies, and to ensure that no individual rental car company 
or companies shall enjoy any rights or privileges more favorable to any such individual company 
or companies than those enjoyed by the all rental car companies.”] 

 
HOLDOVER RENT 
There should be no increase in rent during holdover unless Lessee is holding over without the 
consent of the County.  If we are waiting for an extension of the Lease or a new Lease to be 
negotiated/signed, or for an RFP to be released for a new term, then there should be no 
increase in rent. Further, in such events, the MAG should be eliminated entirely during holdover, 
and Lessee should pay only the 10% of gross revenues during holdover.  The Airport has 
complete control over the timing of this activity and should not also have the opportunity/option 
to impose additional charges by delaying implementation of new agreement.  Please modify this 
language accordingly. County has a requirement for holdover rent when lessee stays beyond 
term.  Holdover only applies Lessee is holding over without the consent of the County, as 
provisions would be made in advance for instances other than this. 
 


